
 

 

         CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL SPECIAL CALLED MEETING  

             R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Building 
                            1476 J A Cochran Bypass- Council Chambers 
                            Monday, November 1st   2021, at 5:00 PM  

 
                                                 

                  AGENDA  

              

 

1.    Call to Order 

2.    Executive Session 

     a.  Receive legal advice regarding Project 2169.- Attorney Kozlarek. 

     b.  Receive legal advice regarding Project 2103.  Attorney Kozlarek.  

 
3.   Council Actions Following Executive Session 

     a.  Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2169. 

                 b.  Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2103. 

 
4.    Adjourn 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the Mfg. Housing 
Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the bulletin board at the Chester 
County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting 

 
 

 

 

 

 

                                  Chester County Special Called Meeting November 1st, 2021 



 

Chester County Council Agenda November 1st, 2021                                                1 
 

                      CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING 

           R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex 
                                          1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 
                                            Monday, November 1st, 2021 at 6:00PM 

         
      Agenda   

 
         
1. Call to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation  

3. Approval of Minutes – October 18th, 2021, Council Minutes.  

4. Citizen Comments 

5. Public Hearing 

             a.  3rd Reading of 2021-6 An Ordinance Authorizing (1) The Execution and Delivery of a Second  

     Amendment To That Certain Special Source Credit Agreement Previously Entered into By And  

   Between Chester County, South Carolina And Insurance Institute for Business and Home 

   Safety: And (2) Other Matters Related Thereto. 
 

6. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations  

a.  3rd Reading of 2021-6 An Ordinance Authorizing (1) The Execution and Delivery of a Second  

     Amendment To That Certain Special Source Credit Agreement Previously Entered into By And  

     Between Chester County, South Carolina And Insurance Institute for Business and Home  

      Safety: And (2) Other Matters Related Thereto. 

 
 b. 1st Reading of 2021-20 Ordinance Adopting the 2020-2030 Chester County Comprehensive  

      Plan.    

7. Old Business 

 a.  Update to Council approving a bid for a multi-year contract for Preventative Maintenance - Fire  
                    Apparatus in the amount of $29,080.90 dollars. - Procurement Director Susan Cok. 

b.  3rd Reading of CCMA21-28: Mattie Howze request Tax Map # 160-00-00-025-000 located at  
     Georgetown Rd, Great Falls SC to be rezoned from R1 (Rural 1) to RG-2 (General Residential).  
     Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 

 
              c.    3rd Reading of CCMA21-29: Leonard Stevens Bishop request part of Tax Map # 079-00-00- 

   032-000 located on Village Dr, Chester SC to be rezoned from RG-1 (Multi-family Residential)  
   to LC (Limited Commercial).  Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. 
 

              d.   3rd Reading of CCMA21-30: Nate McDaniel request Tax Map # 060-00-02-010-000 located  
      at 1047 Pinckney Rd, Chester SC to be rezoned from R2 (Rural 2) to ID-3 (General Industrial).  
      Planning Commission voted 5-1 to approve with a reverter clause once the business is no longer 

                     in existence (leveling the lot and removing gravel), it will revert back to R2. 

 



 

Chester County Council Agenda November 1st, 2021                                                2 
 

8. New Business 

 a.  Council to authorize Richburg Fire District to apply for a $10,000 dollar grant from the SC  
                    Forestry Commission with a $5000 dollar match to purchase dual band VHF & 800 Pagers.  
                   -Fire Chief John Agee.  

 b.  Council to consider allowing Richburg Fire District to apply for a loan to purchase a new chassis  
                    for a 2006 brush truck and to replace carpet and other maintenance items in the administrative  
                    areas in the Richburg Fire Station. Fire Chief John Agee.   
 

c.   Council to approve the bid of Hubbard Heating & Cooling in the amount of $33,750 dollars for  
                    the installation of AC units in the Chester War Memorial Building. Purchasing Director Susan  
                     Cok.  
  
 d.  Council to approve the bid of Deployed Logix in the amount of $27,777.06 dollars for Disaster 
       Preparedness Shelter System. EMS Director Britt Lineberger.   
 
9. Boards and Commissions-None  

10. Executive Session 

 a. To receive legal advice regarding Project Winchester. Attorney Winters. 

 b. To receive legal advice regarding Project Village Drive. Attorney Winters. 

 c. To receive legal advice regarding Project Cheswick.  Attorney Winters. 

 d. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2169. Attorney Kozlarek.  

 e. To receive legal advice regarding Project 2103. Attorney Kozlarek.  

 f.  To receive legal advice regarding Project 2043. Attorney Winters.  

11. Council Actions Following Executive Session 

 a. Action taken regarding legal advice on Project Winchester. 

 b. Action taken regarding legal advice on Project Village Drive. 

 c. Action taken regarding legal advice on Project Cheswick.  

 d. Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2169. 

 e. Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2103. 

 f. Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2043. 

12. Council Comments 

13. Adjourn 

Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the 
Mfg. Housing Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the 
bulletin board at the Chester County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Chester County Council Agenda November 1st, 2021                                                3 
 

 

     ***PUBLIC NOTICE***   
Chester County Council has relaxed some of the COVID measures put into place for personal appearances at County 
Council meetings but continues to encourage social distancing while in County facilities. 

    
Guidelines for Addressing Council 

                                                          Citizens Comments: 

• Each citizen will be limited to three minutes 
 
                                                         Public Hearings: 

• Each speaker will be limited to a three-minute presentation 
                                                          When introduced: 

• Approach the podium, state your name and address 
• Speak loudly and clearly making sure that the microphone is not obstructed 
• Do not address the audience – direct all comments to Council 
• Do not approach the Council table unless directed 

 

                             Anyone addressing Council will be called out of order if you: 

• Use profanity 
• Stray from the subject 
• Make comments personally attacking an individual member of Council 

     



 

                                     Chester County Council October 18th, 2021 Minutes                                       1 
 

        CHESTER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  
             R. Carlisle Roddey Chester County Government Complex 
                       1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass Chester, SC 29706 
                                               Monday, October 18th, 2021 at 6:00 PM 
            
  Present:  Interim Chairman Dr. Wylie Frederick, Vice Chairman Joe Branham, Councilman Brad Jordan,   
  Councilman Mike Vaughn, Councilwoman Mary Guy, Councilman Pete Wilson, County Attorney Joanie  
  Winters and Clerk to Council Karen Lee.   Absent: Councilman William Killian without prior notification.  
  
        
1. Call to Order- Interim Chairman Dr. Frederick called the meeting to order. 

2. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation-Pledge was recited in unison: Councilwoman Guy gave the  
 invocation.  
 
3. Approval of Minutes- October 4th, 2021 Council Minutes. Councilwoman Guy motioned to approve, 

second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
   
4. Citizen Comments-No one signed up to speak.  

5. Public Hearing-None 

6. Ordinances/Resolutions/Proclamations  

               a. 2nd Reading of 2021-6 An Ordinance Authorizing (1) The Execution And Delivery Of A Second 
                    Amendment To That Certain Special Source Credit Agreement Previously Entered Into By And  
                    Between Chester County, South Carolina And Insurance Institute For Business And Home Safety;  
                    And (2) Other Matters Related Thereto. Vice Chairman Branham motioned to approve, second 
                    by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
              b. 2nd Reading of 2021-16 Authorizing Funding For One Or More Projects According To The  
                     American Recovery Plan Act Of 2021; And Other Related Matters. Councilman Wilson motioned  

 to approve, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
  
                c.  2nd Reading of 2021-17 Amending Ordinance Nos. 2018-5 And 3-19-12a, To Update The  
                     Definition Of “Projects” Under An Installment Purchase Plan Of Finance; And Other Related  
                     Matters. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, seconded by Vice Chairman Branham.  

Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
               d.  2nd Reading of 2021-18 Providing For Excess Funding To Be Used For “Projects” And/ Or 
                     “Capital Projects” As Provided Under Ordinance No. 2019-5, And Other Related Matters. 
                      Councilman Wilson motioned to approve, second by Councilman Vaughn.  Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
7.           Old Business 

                 a.  2nd Reading of CCMA21-28: Mattie Howze request Tax Map # 160-00-00-025-000 located  
                     at Georgetown Rd, Great Falls SC to be rezoned from R1 (Rural 1) to RG-2 (General Residential). 
                   Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve, second by  
                   Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to approve.  

 
 
 
 



 

                                     Chester County Council October 18th, 2021 Minutes                                       2 
 

                 b.  2nd Reading of CCMA21-29: Leonard Stevens Bishop request part of Tax Map # 079-00-00- 
                      032-000 located on Village Dr, Chester SC to be rezoned from RG-1 (Multi-family Residential)  
                      to LC (Limited Commercial).  Planning Commission voted 6-0 to approve. Councilwoman Guy  

       motioned to approve, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 

                c. 2nd Reading of CCMA21-30: Nate McDaniel request Tax Map # 060-00-02-010-000 located 
at 1047 Pinckney Rd, Chester SC to be rezoned from R2 (Rural 2) to ID-3 (General Industrial).  

                    Planning Commission voted 5-1 to approve with a reverter clause once the business is no longer   
                    in existence (leveling the lot and removing gravel), it will revert back to R2. 

     Councilman Wilson motioned to approve with a reverter clause to revert back to R2 once it’s   
     finished and add an additional restriction to be put in place that at no time would more than 15  
     acres be disturbed or active excavation at any given time, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote  
     5-0 to approve.  

 
               d. Discussion regarding the 90-day moratorium placed on planned development applications.  
       Vice Chairman Branham motioned to extend the moratorium on planned development   
                     applications for 45 more days, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
8. New Business 

                  a.  Council to approve a bid for a multi-year contract for Preventative Maintenance - Fire  
                       Apparatus in the amount of $29,080.90 dollars. - Procurement Director Susan Cok.  
                    Tabled to the November 1st, 2021 to obtain further information.   
 
               b.  Council to consider changing Billing Clerk to QA/Ql Billing Specialist on the EMS Organization  
                       Chart. EMS Director Britt Lineberger. Councilwoman Guy motioned to approve changing Billing  
                       Clerk to QA/Q1 Billing Specialist second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 

   c.  Council to authorize the acceptance of $50,000 dollars to be given to the Fort Lawn Fire  
           Protection District to purchase water rescue equipment. State Representative Randy 

                   Ligon and Chief David Dutton. Councilman Vaughn motioned to authorize Fort Lawn Fire  
                   Protection District to accept $50,000 dollars from the State, second by Councilman Jordan.  
                   Vote 5-0 to approve.  

 
                 d.  Council to authorize Fort Lawn Fire Protection District to apply for a $10,000 dollar grant  
                      from the SC Forestry Commission with a $5000 dollar match to purchase a new drop tank and  
                      forestry gear. Fire Chief David Dutton. Vice Chairman Branham motioned to approve, second  

       by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 

               e.  Council to authorize Lando Fire Protection District to apply for a $10,000 dollar grant from 
                        the SC Forestry Commission with a $5000 dollar match to purchase a Unication G5 Pager.  
                        Fire Chief Eddie Murphy. Councilman Jordan motioned to approve, second by Councilwoman  
                        Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
                   f. Council to approve a mulit-year contract with Axon for body and car cameras in the amount 

                  $867,346.28 -Sheriff Dorsey. Councilman Vaughn motioned to approve the multi-year  
                       $867,346.28, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to approve. 
 
                   g.  Council to approve the acceptance of a JAG grant for Detention Officers safety vests with a  
                        10 % match. -Sheriff Dorsey. Councilman Jordan motioned to approve $19,440 2160 dollars with   
                        the 10 % match of $2160 dollars, second by Vice Chairman Branham. Vote 5-0 to approve.   
 
  



 

                                     Chester County Council October 18th, 2021 Minutes                                       3 
 

                   h.  Council to approve the acceptance of a COVID Emergency Supplemental grant for computers  
                         with no match. -Sheriff Dorsey. Vice Chairman Branham motioned to approve $7350 dollars with  
                         no match, second by Councilwoman Guy. Vote 5-0 to approve.  

 
9. Boards and Commissions- None 

10. Executive Session 
 Councilwoman Guy motioned to go to Executive Session, second by Councilman Jordan. Vote 5-0 to  
               approve.  
               
 a.  Receive legal advice regarding Project 2177. -Attorney Winters. 

              b.  Receive legal advice regarding Project 2169.- Attorney Winters. 

              c.  Receive legal advice regarding Project 2162.  Attorney Winters.  

              d.  Receive legal advice regarding a contractual matter in Building & Zoning. -Attorney Winters 

 

11. Council Actions Following Executive Session 
 Councilman Jordan motioned to go back to regular session, second by Councilman Vaughn.  
               Vote 5-0 to approve. 
 
  a.  Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2177. Taken as information.  

  b.  Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2169.  Taken as information. 

                c.  Action taken regarding legal advice for Project 2162. Taken as information. 

  d. Action taken regarding legal advice for a contractual matter in Building & Zoning.  
      Taken as information. 
 
12. Council Comments 
 Dr. Frederick stated he would let Council know when the next dates for council workshops would be. 
 
 Councilman Vaughn reminded everyone EMS building would be holding another vaccination clinic in  
              two days. They will have all three vaccines. 
  
13. Adjourn 
 Vice Chairman Branham motioned to adjourn, second by Councilman Vaughn. Vote 5-0 to approve.  
 
 Time: 8:30 PM.  
 
              Karen Lee, Clerk to County Council 

 
Pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, the Chester News & Reporter, The Herald in Rock Hill, SC, WSOC-TV, Channel 9 Eyewitness News, the 
Mfg. Housing Institute of SC, WRHI Radio Station, C&N2 News, WCNC News and Capitol Consultants were notified, and a notice was posted on the 
bulletin board at the Chester County Government Building 24 hours prior to the meeting. 
 



 

 

                                                       STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY COUNCIL FOR CHESTER COUNTY 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-6 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING (1) THE EXECUTION AND 
DELIVERY OF A SECOND AMENDMENT TO THAT CERTAIN 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT PREVIOUSLY 
ENTERED INTO BY AND BETWEEN CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH 
CAROLINA AND INSURANCE INSTITUTE FOR BUSINESS AND 
HOME SAFETY; AND (2) OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

WHEREAS, Chester County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 
(“Council”), is authorized and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Laws of 
South Carolina, 1976, as amended through the date hereof (“Code”), particularly Title 4, Chapter 1 of the 
Code (“Multi-County Park Act” or, as to Section 4-1-175 thereof, the “Special Source Act”) (collectively, 
“Act”) and by Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution: (i) to acquire, or cause to be 
acquired, certain industrial and commercial properties and to enter into agreements, with certain investors 
to construct, operate, maintain, and improve such properties through which the economic development of 
the State of South Carolina (“State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus utilize the manpower, agricultural 
products and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such investors to accept certain fee in lieu 
of ad valorem tax payments with respect to such properties in accordance with the Multi-County Park Act; 
(iii) to permit such investors to claim special source revenue credits (“Special Source Credits”) against their 
fee in lieu of ad valorem tax payments to reimburse such investors for expenditures in connection with 
infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real estate and personal property, including 
machinery and equipment, used in the operation of manufacturing or commercial enterprises in order to 
enhance the economic development of the County (“Special Source Improvements”); and (iv) to develop, 
in conjunction with one or more other counties, a multi-county industrial park in order to afford certain 
enhanced income tax credits to such investors and to facilitate the grant of Special Source Credits; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 04-06-09A, duly enacted by the Council on April 6, 2009, and 
Ordinance No. 12-03-12F, duly enacted by the Council on December 3, 2012, the County and Insurance 
Institute for Business and Home Safety, a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
Illinois and an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended, and frequently known as the Institute for Business and Home Safety (the “Company”), 
respectively entered into that certain Special Source Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2008, and 
that certain Amendment to Special Source Credit Agreement, effective as of December 31, 2012 
(collectively, the “Special Source Credit Agreement”), wherein the County granted Special Source Credits 
to the Company, any affiliates of the Company, and certain other entities (each a “Credit Eligible Entity”) 
to reimburse each such Credit Eligible Entity for a portion of its investment in the costs of certain Special 
Source Improvements undertaken in connection with the development and establishment of certain facilities 
located in the County (“Project”); and 

WHEREAS, in order to induce continued investment in the Project, including, without limitation, in 
Special Source Improvements, the County has determined to extend the period during which such Special 
Source Credits will be made available to each Credit Eligible Entity, all as set forth in greater detail in the 
Second Amendment to Special Source Credit Agreement (“Second Amendment”), the substantially final 
form of which is attached as Exhibit A. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council:  

 



 

 

         Ordinance 2021-6 

Section 1. Ratification of Special Source Credit Agreement. The terms and conditions of the Special 
Source Credit Agreement are ratified, confirmed, and approved, except as otherwise specifically modified 
by the Second Amendment.         

Section 2. Second Amendment to Special Source Credit Agreement. 

(a) The form, terms, and provisions of the Second Amendment presented to this meeting and filed with 
the Clerk to County Council, including the twenty-year extension of the number of years for which the 
Special Source Credits will be made available to each Credit Eligible Entity, as set forth in the table below 
and shown in greater detail in the Second Amendment, are approved and all of the terms, provisions, and 
conditions of the Second Amendment are incorporated by reference;  

Percentage Property Tax Year 
98% 2009 
98% 2010 
85% 2011 
95% 2012 
95% 2013 
95% 2014 
95% 2015 
95% 2016 
95% 2017 
95% 2018 
95% 2019 
95% 2020 
95% 2021 
80% 2022 
80% 2023 
80% 2024 
80% 2025 
80% 2026 
80% 2027 
80% 2028 
80% 2029 
80% 2030 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 

2031 
2032 
2033 
2034 
2035 
2036 
2037 
2038 
2039 
2040 
2041 

 

Notwithstanding the above provisions of this Ordinance, in the event that the annual fee-in-lieu of tax 
liability due with respect to any of the property tax years set forth above would, following application of 
the Special Source Credits percentage applicable for such property tax year as set forth in the above table,  



 

 

Ordinance 2021-6 

amount to less than the annual fee-in-lieu of tax payment made with respect to property tax year 2020, 
which the County and the Company agree to be $36,704 (the “Base Fee-in-Lieu of Tax Payment Amount”), 
the applicable Special Source Credits percentage for such property tax year shall be reduced in an amount 
sufficient such that the annual fee-in-lieu of tax liability due for such property tax year after application of 
such reduced Special Source Credits percentage shall equal the Base Fee-in-Lieu-of-Tax Payment Amount; 
provided, however, that, for any such property tax year, the applicable Special Source Credits percentage 
shall not be reduced to increase the annual fee-in-lieu of tax liability, as set forth in the foregoing sentence, 
if, and to the extent that, any above-referenced shortfall in annual fee-in-lieu of tax liability (as compared 
to the Base Fee-in-Lieu-of-Tax Payment Amount) is due to disposal, decommissioning, or other action 
resulting in Project property no longer being subject to fee-in-lieu of tax payments; and 

(b) The Second Amendment to be executed on behalf of the County shall be in substantially the form 
now before the Council and shall include only changes that are approved by the County officials executing 
the Second Amendment. The County officials shall consult the attorney for the County with respect to any 
changes to the Second Amendment. The execution of the Second Amendment by County officials shall 
constitute conclusive evidence that they have approved all changes to or revisions of the Second 
Amendment now before this meeting. 

Section 3. Authorization to Execute and Deliver Second Amendment. The County Supervisor (and 
his designated appointees) is authorized and directed, in the name of and on behalf of the County, to execute 
and deliver the Second Amendment, and to take further actions and execute and deliver further documents 
as the County Supervisor (and his designated appointees) deems reasonably necessary and prudent to effect 
this Ordinance’s intent. 

Section 4. General Repealer. Any prior ordinance, resolution or order, the terms of which are in conflict 
with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

Section 5. Effective Date. This Ordinance is effective after its third reading and public hearing. 

[ONE SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

  



 

 

                                          Ordinance 2021-6 

 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

        
Dr. Wylie Frederick 
Interim Supervisor/Chairman, Chester County Council 

(SEAL) 
ATTEST: 

        
Karen Lee 
Clerk, Chester County Council 

First Reading:  October 4, 2021 
Public Hearing:  October 18, 2021 
Second Reading: November 1, 2021 
Third Reading:  November 1, 2021 

  



 

 

                                              Ordinance 2021-6 
 

EXHIBIT A 
FORM OF SECOND AMENDMENT TO SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

           

 

 



 

 

Ordinance 2021-6 

 

 
 

 
SECOND AMENDMENT TO 

 
SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 
 

BETWEEN 
 
 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 
 

AND 
 

INSURANCE INSTITUTE FOR BUSINESS 
AND HOME SAFETY 

 
 

AMENDED, EFFECTIVE: NOVEMBER 1, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This Second Amendment pertains to that certain Special Source Credit Agreement previously 
entered into by and between Chester County, South Carolina, and Insurance Institute for Business 
and Home Safety, as amended by that certain Amendment to Special Source Credit Agreement. 

 
 



 

7 

                                                                                                           Ordinance 2021-6 
SECOND AMENDMENT TO 

SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO SPECIAL SOURCE CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Second 
Amendment”), effective November 1, 2021, is between CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a 
body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (the “County”), and 
the INSURANCE INSTITUTE FOR BUSINESS AND HOME SAFETY, an Illinois corporation and an 
organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and 
frequently known as the Institute for Business and Home Safety (the “Company”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (the “Council”), is authorized and 
empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 
through the date hereof (the “Code”), particularly Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code (the “Multi-County Park 
Act” or, as to Section 4-1-175 thereof, the “Special Source Act”) (collectively, the “Act”) and by Article 
VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution: (i) to acquire, or cause to be acquired, certain 
industrial and commercial properties and to enter into agreements, with certain investors to construct, 
operate, maintain, and improve such properties through which the economic development of the State of 
South Carolina (the “State”) will be promoted and trade developed by inducing manufacturing and 
commercial enterprises to locate and remain in the State and thus utilize the manpower, agricultural 
products and natural resources of the State; (ii) to covenant with such investors to accept certain fee in lieu 
of ad valorem tax payments with respect to such properties in accordance with the Multi-County Park Act; 
(iii) to permit such investors to claim special source revenue credits (“Special Source Credits”) against their 
fee in lieu of ad valorem tax payments to reimburse such investors for expenditures in connection with 
infrastructure serving the County and improved or unimproved real estate and personal property, including 
machinery and equipment, used in the operation of manufacturing or commercial enterprises in order to 
enhance the economic development of the County (“Special Source Improvements”); and (iv) to develop, 
in conjunction with one or more other counties, a multi-county industrial park in order to afford certain 
enhanced income tax credits to such investors and to facilitate the grant of Special Source Credits; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance No. 04-06-09A, duly enacted by the Council on April 6, 2009, and 
Ordinance No. 12-03-12F, duly enacted by the Council on December 3, 2012, the County and the Company 
respectively entered into that certain Special Source Credit Agreement, dated as of October 20, 2008, and 
that certain Amendment to Special Source Credit Agreement, effective as of December 31, 2012 
(collectively, the “Special Source Credit Agreement”), wherein the County has granted Special Source 
Credits to the Company, any affiliates of the Company, and certain other entities (each a “Credit Eligible 
Entity”) to reimburse each such Credit Eligible Entity for a portion of its investment in the costs of certain 
Special Source Improvements undertaken in connection with the development and establishment of certain 
facilities located in the County (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, in order to induce continued investment in the Project, including, without limitation, in 
Special Source Improvements, the County has determined to extend the period during which such Special 
Source Credits will be made available to each Credit Eligible Entity, all as set forth in greater detail in this 
Second Amendment; 

WHEREAS, the County approved the foregoing action to be taken, and authorized the execution and 
delivery of this Second Amendment pursuant to that certain Ordinance duly enacted by the Council with 
respect to this Second Amendment on November 1, 2021. 

           

 



 

8 

Ordinance 2021-6 

         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals which are incorporated herein by 
reference, and respective representations and agreements hereinafter contained, and other lawful 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the County and the Company 
agree as follows: 

Section 1. Definitions. Defined terms used in this Second Amendment and not otherwise defined in 
this Second Amendment have the meanings ascribed to them in the Special Source Credit Agreement. 

Section 2. Amendment of Special Source Credit Agreement. Section 1 of the Special Source Credit 
Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: 

Section 1. Special Source Credits. The County hereby grants each 
of the Company, any affiliates of the Company, and any other entities 
described in Section (d) of the above recitals (each a “Credit Eligible 
Entity”) Special Source Credits to reimburse each such Credit Eligible 
Entity for a portion of its investment in the costs of certain Special Source 
Improvements in the percentages and for the property tax years as follows:  

Percentage Property Tax Year 
98% 2009 
98% 2010 
85% 2011 
95% 2012 
95% 2013 
95% 2014 
95% 2015 
95% 2016 
95% 2017 
95% 2018 
95% 2019 
95% 2020 
95% 2021 
80% 2022 
80% 2023 
80% 2024 
80% 2025 
80% 2026 
80% 2027 
80% 2028 
80% 2029 
80% 2030 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 
80% 

2031 
2032 
2033 
2034 
2035 
2036 
2037 
2038 
2039 
2040 
2041 

                       



 

9 

  
     Ordinance 2021-6 

        

The County Auditor is hereby directed to apply the Special Source 
Credits amount to reduce each Credit Eligible Entity’s annual fee-in-lieu 
of tax liability at the Project in the amounts and for the years specified 
above. The Special Source Credits amounts shall be shown on the bill sent 
by the County to the Company or other applicable Credit Eligible Entity 
at the Project. Each Credit Eligible Entity shall be required to use the 
Special Source Credits to reimburse itself for a portion of its investment 
in the costs of certain Special Source Improvements. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 1, in the 
event that the annual fee-in-lieu of tax liability due with respect to any of 
the property tax years set forth above would, following application of the 
Special Source Credits percentage applicable for such property tax year as 
set forth in the above table, amount to less than the annual fee-in-lieu of 
tax payment made with respect to property tax year 2020, which the parties 
hereto agree to be $36,704 (the “Base Fee-in-Lieu of Tax Payment 
Amount”), the applicable Special Source Credits percentage for such 
property tax year shall be reduced in an amount sufficient such that the 
annual fee-in-lieu of tax liability due for such property tax year after 
application of such reduced Special Source Credits percentage shall equal 
the Base Fee-in-Lieu-of-Tax Payment Amount; provided, however, that, 
for any such property tax year, the applicable Special Source Credits 
percentage shall not be reduced to increase the annual fee-in-lieu of tax 
liability, as set forth in the foregoing sentence of this Section 1, if, and to 
the extent that, any above-referenced shortfall in annual fee-in-lieu of tax 
liability (as compared to the Base Fee-in-Lieu-of-Tax Payment Amount) 
is due to disposal, decommissioning, or other action resulting in Project 
property no longer being subject to fee-in-lieu of tax payments. 

Pursuant to Section 4-29-68(A)(2)(ii) of the Code, to the extent 
any Special Source Credits are used as payment for personal property, 
including machinery and equipment, and the personal property is removed 
from the Project at any time prior to the termination or expiration of this 
Agreement, then the annual fee-in-lieu of tax liability due on such personal 
property for the year of such removal from the Project shall also be due 
for the two (2) years following such removal; provided, that if such 
removed personal property is replaced with other personal property, then 
such personal property shall not be considered removed from the Project 
for these purposes. 

Section 3. Remaining Terms and Provisions. Except as amended in Section 2 above, the terms and 
provisions of the Special Source Credit Agreement shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 

Section 4. Entire Understanding. The Special Source Credit Agreement, as amended by this Second 
Amendment, expresses the entire understanding and all agreements of the parties hereto pertaining to the 
matters set forth herein and therein. 

Section 5. Multiple Counterparts. This Second Amendment may be executed in multiple 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute but one and the same 
instrument. 



 

10 

[Execution Pages Follow]



 

   

         Ordinance 2021-6 

 

IN WITNESS THEREOF, the parties hereto, each after due authorization, have executed this Second 
Amendment to Special Source Credit Agreement, effective the date first above written. 

CHESTER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

       
Dr. Wylie Frederick 
Interim Supervisor/Chairman, Chester County Council 

(SEAL) 
ATTEST: 

__________________________ 
Karen Lee 
Clerk, Chester County Council 



 

 

     Ordinance 2021-6 
 
 
 
 
INSURANCE INSTITUTE FOR BUSINESS 
AND HOME SAFETY 

By:       
      

Name:       
      

Its:       
      

 



 

 

~   



2 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 

2 ~ 

 

  



3 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

CHAPTER 2 EXISTING CONDITIONS ....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6 

CHAPTER 3 DEMOGRAPHICS ................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 8 

POPULATION........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 8 

DIVERSITY ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 8 

AGE ...................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

HOUSEHOLDS .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 11 

INCOME ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 12 

Housing .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 13 

BUILDING PERMITS ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 14 

CHAPTER 4 EDUCATION ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

CHAPTER 5 ECONOMIC CONDITIONS ............................................................................................................................................................................................... 18 

CHAPTER 6 COMMUNITY ASSETS AND FACILITIES .............................................................................................................................................................................. 20 

CHAPTER 7 INFRASTRUCTURE .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 20 

Water and Sewer Utilities ................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 21 

CHAPTER 8 PUBLIC SAFETY ................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 23 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES (EMS) ........................................................................................................................................................................ 23 

SHERIFF ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25 

CHAPTER 9 LAND USE ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 26 

CHAPTER 10 TRANSPORTATION ........................................................................................................................................................................................................... 29 

ROAD NETWORK ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 29 

TRAFFIC COUNTS ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 30 

ROAD IMPROVEMENTS ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 31 

RAIL SERVICE ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 32 

TRANSIT SERVICES .............................................................................................................................................................................................................................. 34 

BICYCLE & PEDESTRIAN FACILITIES .................................................................................................................................................................................................. 35 



4 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 11 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT – PLAN 4 CHESTER.................................................................................................................................................................... 37 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT TIMELINE ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 38 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT – COMMUNITY SURVEY .............................................................................................................................................................................. 39 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT – CHESTER TALK BACK SESSIONS .............................................................................................................................................................. 41 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT – COMMUNITY DROP-INS .......................................................................................................................................................................... 42 

CHAPTER 12 STRATEGIC ACTION PLAN .............................................................................................................................................................................................. 43 

CHAPTER 13 THEMES ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 44 

HOUSING ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 45 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 47 

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES .................................................................................................................................................................................................... 51 

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN .................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 54 

COMMUNITY TYPES ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 56 

PRIORITY INVESTMENT PLAN ............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 60 

 

  



5 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION 

The Chester County Comprehensive Plan 2020-2030 is organized into three sections that collectively encompass the intent 

and requirements prescribed by the South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994, as 

amended. 

• Existing Conditions:  the thorough documentation of historical trends and data provides a snapshot of Chester County 

which provides background and context for the other two sections. 

 

• Public Engagement:  the permanent record of efforts to engage the community so that this plan reflects local values. 

 

• Strategic Action Plan:  a focused plan of action for improving, protecting, and enhancing the livability of Chester 

County. 

This format is a departure from the conventional practice of having individual elements that cover particular topics such as 

Population, Housing, or Transportation. This plan’s organization is intended to facilitate an action-oriented approach centered 

on three key themes—Housing, Economic Development, and Public Facilities & Services—with specific policies, projects, or 

services that can be started as soon as partners and resources are identified. Likewise, the number of action items, and 

timeframes for implementation have been adjusted to encourage completion so that new opportunities and items can be 

added in future years. 

 

Existing 
Conditions

Public 
Engagement

Strategic 
Action Plan



6 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 2 EXISTING CONDITIONS 

 

The following description of Chester County’s Existing Conditions 

provides a context for the plan’s recommendations. This collection of 

data and analysis is a tool to educate community residents on the 

current status and needs of the county. A sound information base 

establishes a foundation to measure the extent of resources that are 

necessary to address the needs of the county. The information 

presented in this document was drawn from a variety of sources 

including community stakeholders and county representatives as well 

as data sources such as ESRI and US Census Bureau. 

  

  

Map courtesy of I-77 Alliance 

 

County Historical Context  
 



7 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

Chester County, South Carolina, had its beginning in 1750 when the Scots-Irish from 

Pennsylvania and Virginia settled on Rocky Creek and Fishing Creek.  The area 

that is Chester County today was originally part of Craven County, one of the 

three original counties established by the Lords Proprietor of the English colony of 

Carolina in 1682. In 1785, the state was divided into 37 judicial districts and Chester 

County came into existence. 

Chester was one of seven counties created in 1785 from the old Camden Judicial 

District. Situated in the rolling hills of South Carolina’s eastern Piedmont, Chester 

County is bound on the east by the Catawba River and on the west by the Broad 

River. The County is unique because its borders have never been altered, and its 

distinct rectangular shape is unique among South Carolina counties.  

 

 

  

Chester County Courthouse 

Photo Credit: U.S. National Register of Historic Places 

Chester County Transportation Museum 

Photo Credit: Joseph C. Henson Photography 

 

Catholic-Presbyterian Church: 

 Photo Credit: South Carolina Department of Archives 

and History. 

Landsford Canal State Park  

Photo Credit: Trover 

 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/County
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lords_Proprietor


8 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 3 DEMOGRAPHICS 

POPULATION 

• Chester County's population peaked during the 2000 Census at 

34,068 people.  In 2010 Chester County's population decreased by 

2.7% to 33,140.  By 2020, the estimated population decreased again 

slightly by 2.6% to 32,294 people.  However, with the Knight's Bridge, 

Walker's Mill, and other housing development construction 

underway, Chester County is expecting to experience sustained 

growth in the next planning period. 
 

• While Chester County decreased in population by 5.21% since 

2000, statewide, South Carolina experienced a 27.6% increase in 

population, growing by 1,106,413 people between 2000 and 2020. 
 

• Chester County municipalities have also experienced a slight 

decline in population over the 2000 and 2010 Censuses.  Thus, the 

declining population is indicative of both incorporated and 

unincorporated areas of the County.  However, with projected new 

growth in the city of Chester, the exit 65 area and the Great Falls 

Area (because of nature-based tourism) the new residents moving 

into the area should reverse this towards a positive trend.  
 

• Between 2000 and 2019, the City of Chester’s population declined 

by 13.6%, Great Falls by 9.8%, Lowrys by 6.8%, and Richburg by 21.7%. 

Fort Lawn increased its population by 3.0%.  It is important to note 

that with small population sets, even the smallest change in 

population may show an exaggerated positive or negative impact. 

DIVERSITY 

• Chester County’s population is primarily comprised of two racial 

groups, white and black.  The 2020 Census, racial demographics 

indicate that 58.1% of the population identify as white alone, 35.1% 

identify as black, 4.5% identify as being of mixed race, and 1.5% of 

the population was identified as being of another race,   Source: US Census Bureau and American Community Survey 

Source: US Census Bureau and American Community Survey 

6
,4

7
6

8
6

4 2
,1

9
4

2
0

7

3
3

2

5
,5

9
3

8
9

5 1
,9

7
9

2
0

0

2
7

5

5
,3

7
7

8
9

0 1
,8

7
7

1
9

3

2
6

0

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

C I T Y  O F  
C H E S T E R

F O R T  
L A W N  

G R E A T  
F A L L S

L O W R Y S  R I C H B U R G

MUNICIPAL POPULATION 
CHANGE, 2000-2019

2000 2010 2019

34,068 33,140 32,294

4,012,012
4,625,364

5,118,425

2000 2010 2020

POPULATION 2000-2020 

Chester South Carolina



9 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

Note: At the time of publishing limited release of 2020 census data had occurred.   

AGE  

• In 2000, Chester County primarily had the same age cohorts as the state. The 

largest discrepancy in age statistics was the 5-19 (1.3% higher) and 20-64 age 

cohorts (2.0% lower).  

• In 2019, Chester’s age ages 20-64cohorts continued to mirror South Carolina’s 

by increased by 3.6%; individuals 65 years of age and older increased by 

4.2%.  

Note: At the time of publishing limited release of 2020 census data had occurred.   

 

 

  

AGE COHORTS 

2000 

Age Chester 

County 

South 

Carolina 

< 5 6.7% 6.6% 

5-19 23.0% 21.7% 

20-64 57.6% 59.6% 

65+ 12.7% 12.1% 

2010 

Age Chester 

County 

South 

Carolina 

<5 5.7% 6.6% 

5-19 21.2% 20.3% 

20-64 53.0% 59.9% 

65+ 14.0% 13.2% 

2019 

Age Chester 

County 

South 

Carolina 

<5 5.6% 5.8% 

5-19 19.6% 19.1% 

20-64 56.6% 57.9% 

65+ 18.2% 17.2% 

Source: US Census 2000, 2010, and 2019 American Community 

Survey 

35.9

40.3
42.0

35.4
37.4

39.9

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

50.0

2000 2010 2019

Median Age, 2000-2019

Chester County South Carolina

Source:  US Census 2000, 2010, and 2019 

American Community 

Survey 



10 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 

• Chester County’s median age increased from 35.9 in 2000 to 

42 in 2019. 

 

• In 2000, 9.7% of Fort Lawn’s individuals were under 5 years of 

age, the highest of all county municipalities. Fort Lawn also 

had the highest percentage of individuals ages 20-64 at 

60.4%.  

 

• By 2019, Lowrys had the most individuals above age 65 at 

21.5%. 
 

• In 2010, Chester had the highest percentage of individuals 

ages 20-64 at 64.2%. 
 

• Fort Lawn saw the largest increase of senior citizens with the 

total amount rising by 10.9% during the decennial census 

period. 
 

• In 2019, Great Falls had the highest percentage of 

individuals under 5 years old with 12.8%. 

 

• Lowrys experienced the largest increase in median age 

between 2000 and 2019 at 24%. 

 

Note: At the time of publishing limited release of 2020 census data had occurred.   

 

 

MUNICIPAL AGE COHORTS 

 
2000 

 Chester Fort Lawn    Great Falls Lowrys Richburg 

< 5 7.6% 9.7% 7.8% 8.7% 4.8% 

5-19 24.7% 23.0% 22.9% 19.8% 22.8% 

20-64 55.6% 60.4% 52.2% 57.9% 56.1% 

65+ 12.1% 6.9% 17.2% 14.0% 16.3% 

2010 

 
Chester Fort Lawn  Great Falls Lowrys Richburg 

< 5 5.3% 7.4% 7.4% 3.3% 11.4% 

5-19 17.4% 27.4% 28.5% 32.3% 21.6% 

20-64 64.2% 59.0% 50.5% 53.1% 51.7% 

65+ 13.1% 6.2% 13.5% 11.0% 15.3% 

2019 

 

 

 

 

 Chester Fort Lawn  Great Falls  Lowrys Richburg 

< 5 7.2% 9.3% 12.8% 1.6% 7.3% 

5-19 18.2% 15.9% 19.0% 12.9% 21.0% 

20-64 59.6% 57.9% 54.8% 64.0% 54.9% 

65+ 14.9% 17.0% 13.4% 21.5% 16.8% 

Source: US Census 2000, 2010, and 2019 American Community Survey 

 

Source: US Census 2000, 2010, and 2019 American Community Survey 

 

34.3 37.0 34.0

47.8
37.3

0

20

40

60

Chester Fort Lawn Great Falls Lowrys Richburg

Municipal Median Age,
2000-2019 

2000 2010 2019

Source:  US Census 2000, 2010, and 2019 American Community Survey 

 

 



11 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

HOUSEHOLDS 

• In 2019, there were 12,653 households in Chester County, a 1.76% 

decrease from the 12,880 households in Chester County during the 

2000 decennial Census. 
 

• In 2000, 78.4% of Chester County housing was owner-occupied.  By 

2019, this had dropped to 76.1%, but it was still much higher than the 

national homeownership rate of 64.0%. 
 

In 2000, the average Chester County household size was 2.62 

persons, while in 2019, Chester County’s household size fell by 4.52%, 

to 2.5. 
 

• The municipalities of Chester and Lowrys experienced the largest 

decrease in families at 23.7% and 18.6% respectively between 2010 

and 2019.  
 

• Fort Lawn and Richburg experienced an increase in number of 

households and families between 2000 and 2019.  
 

• In 2019, 47.6% of Chester County’s housing was owner-occupied 

 

• Overall, Chester County has experienced a 1.76% increase, and 

South Carolina has experienced a 25.3% increase in total 

households during the same period between 2000 and 2019. 
 

• With new projected growth in the City of Chester, Richburg and Great Falls, the County should see positive growth in 

total households as new Census data is released. 

Note: At the time of publishing limited release of 2020 census data had occurred.   

 

  

A household is defined as an occupied 

housing unit that includes all persons who 

occupy that unit.  Occupants do not 

have to be related to form a household. 

Single Family Residential Home 

Photo Credit: New Chester Realty 



12 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

INCOME  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

$42,442 

Median 

Household 

Income 

 

 
$54,235 

Average 

Household 

Income 

 

 

17.7% 

Families 

Below 

Poverty 

Line 

 

 

$22,234 

Per Capita 

Income 

•  In 2019, the median household income for Chester 

County was $42,442.  The state average was $53,199. 
 

• Between 2000 and 2019, Chester County’s median 

household income increased by 30.9% while the state's 

household income increased by only 11.4%.    
 

• In 2019, the average household income for Chester 

County was $54,235.  The state average household 

income was $78,188. 
 

• Chester County’s median family income increased by 

29.1% during the planning period.  

 

 

Per capita income 

measures the average 

income earned per 

person in a given area 

(city, region, country, 

etc.) in a specified year. 

Household Income 

measures total gross 

income of all occupants 

of a housing unit.  

Family Income measures 

total gross income of all 

occupants related by 

family within a housing 

unit. 

4.9%

20.1%
12.3%

79.8%

14.1%

27.9% 30.9%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

P
E
R

C
E
N

T 
C

H
A

N
G

E
 I

N
 G

R
O

W
TH

Per Capita Income

2000-2019

Source:  US Census 2000, 2010, 2019 American Community Survey  

 

Confederate Chester Gun 

Photo Credit: Chester County Historical Society 

 

Chester County 

Income at a Glance 

(2019) 

Note: At the time of publishing limited release of 2020 census data had occurred.   

 



13 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

HOUSING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

• In 2019, 72.4% of all housing units in Chester 

County were single-unit, which is better than 

the state's 66.3% rate.  However, 20.4% are 

mobile homes versus the state's 16.2%.  

[https://censusreporter.org/profiles/05000US45023-chester-county-

sc/]  
 

• Chester County’s median household value in 

2019 was $95,600.  The state’s median 

household value was $162,300.  This 

discrepancy is due in part to the age of 

housing structures in Chester County.  As of 

2019, 65.5% of the housing structures were 

built pre-2010 compared to the state’s 49.3%. 

[https://censusreporter.org/profiles/05000US45023-chester-

county-sc/]  
 

• In 2019, Chester County’s median gross rent 

was 18.7% of the median household income 

of $42,442 (Monthly gross median rent X 12 

Months and then divided by median 

household income). Statewide, the median 

gross rent is 20.2% of the median household 

income.   
 

• For housing units with a mortgage in Chester 

County, 27.6% of income goes to housing 

costs (Median monthly owner costs X 12, 

divided by median gross income). The 

statewide costs totaled approximately 28.1%.    

• In 2020, there were 14,601 housing units in 

Chester County, an increase of 227 units 

from 2000 to 2020.  Though an increase in 

units has occurred, the population fell 

during this same period.  This can be 

explained by the drop in average 

household size. 
 

• 85.0% of Chester County’s units were 

occupied in 2010.  In 2020, this increased 

slightly to 88.5%.  
 

• In 2019, Chester County's owner-occupied 

housing unit rate was 76.1%, which was 

higher than South Carolina's 69.4% rate.  

This is, however, down from a 78.4% rate in 

2000, which represents a 2.9% decline.  
 

•  

14,601 

Housing 

Units 
(2020) 

 

 

11,250 
Owner 

Occupied 

 

 2,543 

Renter 

Occupied 

 

 $661 
Median 

Gross Rent 

 

 
Source:  US Census 2000, 2010, and 

2019 American Community Survey 

 

 

Source: Chester County 

Note: At the time of publishing limited release of 2020 census 

data had occurred.   

 

https://censusreporter.org/profiles/05000US45023-chester-county-sc/
https://censusreporter.org/profiles/05000US45023-chester-county-sc/
https://censusreporter.org/profiles/05000US45023-chester-county-sc/
https://censusreporter.org/profiles/05000US45023-chester-county-sc/


14 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

BUILDING PERMITS  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Building permit data was supplied by Chester County 

building and planning officials. The numbers shown reflect 

the current and historical records since 2016.  Over the 

past five years, a pattern has emerged that reflects a 

more than a 100% increase in the number of single-family 

permits between 2016 and 2020.  This information is 

intended to function as an assessment tool to analyze 

growth patterns and community needs.  

53
48

78 79

108

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Chester County Single-family Residential 

Permits 2016-2020 

Single-family, Modular, and Manufactored Dwellings

 $-

 $50,000

 $100,000

 $150,000

 $200,000

 $250,000

 $300,000

 $-

 $5,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $15,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $25,000,000

 $30,000,000

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Value of Single-family permits 2016-2020 in 

Chester County

Total Value Average Value

Source: Chester County/CRCOG 

Source: Chester County/CRCOG 

CHESTER COUNTY 

NEW SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLINGS 2020 

Source: Chester County/CRCOG 

Source: Chester County/CRCOG 



15 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

Source: Chester County/CRCOG 

CHAPTER 4 EDUCATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Of the localities in Chester County, Great Falls had 

the highest percentage of individuals with 

educational attainment equivalent to a high 

school diploma or GED at 43%. Richburg had the 

highest percentage of individuals with an 

associate’s degree at 10.8%. 
 

• Approximately 36.1% of the City of Chester's 

population attained a high school diploma or GED, 

while 9.5% of the population attained an 

associate’s degree. 
 

• Although Lowry's had the lowest percentage of 

individuals with a bachelor's degree at 6.3%, it had 

the highest number of individuals among the 

municipalities with a graduate degree at 14.8%. 

 

• In 2019, for 39.3% of Chester County’s population 25 

years of age or older the highest educational attainment 

level was a high school diploma or GED; the statewide 

rate was 29.1%.  Approximately 82.1%, of the same age 

group, has high school/GED equivalency or greater, 

statewide the percentage is slightly higher at 87.5% 
 

• 11% of Chester County and 9.8% of South Carolina 

received an associate’s degree as the highest level of 

education. 
 

• 9.3% of Chester County attained the equivalency of 

bachelor’s degree, while the state average was 17.8%. 
 

• 4.1% of Chester County received a graduate degree, 

while 10.3% of the state received the same level of 

education  

 

Chester Senior High School  

Photo Credit:  Chester County  

Chester Fort Lawn Lowrys Richburg
Chester
County

South
Carolina

High School 36.1% 35.8% 41.5% 33.3% 39.3% 29.1%

Associate's 9.5% 14.7% 15.5% 19.1% 11.0% 9.8%

Bachelor's 8.0% 9.2% 6.3% 10.8% 9.3% 17.8%

Graduate 3.3% 4.9% 14.8% 5.9% 4.1% 10.3%

0.0%
10.0%
20.0%
30.0%
40.0%
50.0%

Highest Educational Attainment  2019 25 years 
of age and older

Source:  US Census 2000, 2010, 2019 American Community Survey  



16 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• The Chester County School District has approximately 

5,110 students with more than 779 full- and part-time 

employees. 
 

• In 2019, 464 teachers worked in the 11 schools that 

make up the district. 
 

• From the fiscal year FY 2012-2013 school year to FY 2019-

2020, overall enrollment decreased by 6.15%. 
 

• To maintain, renovate, or fund new facility construction, 

Chester County School District has completed a district-

wide Facility Needs Assessment to identify 

improvements for facilities to support the district’s 

educational goals and student outcomes. 
 

 

 

Lewisville Middle School 

Photo Credit:  Chester County  

 



17 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

York Technical College offers both credit and non-

credit courses at its satellite campus in Chester.  

Additionally, students are offered the majority of 

services provided at its primary campus. 
 

Chester County Public Schools 

PRE-KINDERGARTEN – 5th Grade 

o GREAT FALLS ELEMENTARY SCHOOL  

o LEWISVILLE ELEMENTARY SCHOOL  

o CHESTER PARK CENTER OF 

LITERACY/SCHOOL OF 

INQUIRY/SCHOOL OF THE ARTS  

MIDDLE SCHOOLS  

o GREAT FALLS MIDDLE SCHOOL 

o LEWISVILLE MIDDLE SCHOOL 

o CHESTER MIDDLE SCHOOL  

HIGH SCHOOLS 

o GREAT FALLS HIGH SCHOOL  

o LEWISVILLE HIGH SCHOOL 

o CHESTER HIGH SCHOOL  

OTHER SCHOOLS 

o THE LEARNING CENTER 

o CHESTER CAREER CENTER 

HIGHER EDUCATION  

o YORK TECHNICAL COLLEGE: 

CHESTER CENTER 

 



18 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 5 ECONOMIC CONDITIONS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

Note: At the time of publishing limited release of 2020 census data had occurred.   

 

 

 

 

Occupation  

• In 2019, Chester County had 13,196 civilian 

employed individuals in the work force of 16 years of 

age and over.  
 

• Approximately 99.9% of the county labor force were 

in  civilian jobs; the remaining 0.1% were employed 

by the armed forces. 
 

• 45.9% of Chester’s population ages 16 and older are 

not in the labor force.  Statewide, the average is 

39.5% 
 

• A significant portion of Chester County’s labor force, 

by industry, consists of manufacturing (23.5%), 

educational services, and health care and social 

assistance (19.1%) and retail trade (11.5%).  This data 

is illustrated in the tree map graph on the following 

page. 

 

 

 

Income and Benefits 

• In 2019, 28,722 individuals employed in Chester 

County had some form of health insurance. Of this 

number, 59% had private health insurance; 42.5% had 

public insurance. 
 

• The mean social security income was $17,969, while 

the mean retirement income was $18,623. 

 

Source:  US Census 2000, 2010, and 2019 

American Community Survey 

 

 



19 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 

 
Source:  2019 American Community Survey  

 

 



20 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 6 COMMUNITY ASSETS AND FACILITIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chester County Library System 
The Chester County Library is a county-wide free public library system governed by a seven-

member Board of Trustees. The system includes the following libraries:  Chester County Library, 

Great Falls Community Library, Lewisville Community Library, and a multi-stop bookmobile. 

• GREAT FALLS:  In 1927, Great Falls Community Library was opened by adult 

education advocate Wil Lou Gray. 

• LEWISVILLE:  Lewisville Community Library opened in 1997 in response to rapid growth 

in the Richburg/Lewisville area.  This library is often visited by travelers on Interstate 

77 and is well used by local individuals.   

Chester County Historic Society Museum 
The Chester Historic Society Museum and Archives is housed in the 1914 Chester County Jail. 

It contains a large collection of Catawba pottery, Native American projectile points, long 

rifles, handguns, and more.   

Chester State Park  

The 523-acre Chester State Park is located just southwest of the City of Chester.  Since 

opening in the 1930s, it has been a haven for hiking, picnicking, boating, and fishing for the 

surrounding communities in the Piedmont Region of South Carolina.  It features a beautiful 

160-acre park lake with canoe and paddle boats available for rent, 25 campsites, 2 disc golf 

courses, and a 472-foot bridge perfect for fishing and observing wildlife.  

Landsford Canal State Park 

Granted to Thomas Land in 1754, the 448-acres Landsford Canal State Park stretches across 

northeast Chester County and is full of cultural and natural history. It runs parallel to the 

Catawba River and contains Native American artifacts dating back over 10,000 years.  It has 

a 1.5-mile trail along the remains of the historic canal.  This park attracts thousands of visitors 

annually in the spring to see the world's largest population of Rocky Shoals Spider Lilies.  

Chester County Historicl Society Museum  

Photo Credit:  SC Great Outdoors   

 

Spider Lilies – Lansford Canal State 

Park 

Photo Credit - CRCOG 

 

Chester State Park  

Photo Credit: Discover South Carolina 



21 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 7 INFRASTRUCTURE 

WATER AND SEWER UTILITIES 

 

 

           

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

• The Chester Metropolitan District (CMD) was 

created in 1959, by Act No. 379 as amended, as a 

Special Purpose District and is governed by a 

commission. 

 

• The CMD serves residents along SC Highway 9, SC 

Route 99 and, the US-21 Corridor as well as the 

municipalities of Chester, Fort Lawn, Great Falls, 

and Richburg.   
 

• The CMD originally relied on its location in Fort 

Lawn to supply the county but expanded after it 

acquired water systems from the City of Chester 

and Town of Great Falls. 
 

• In 2001, CMD received a substantial grant, which 

allowed for the replacement of nearly the entire 

water system in the Town of Great Falls and the 

construction of the 750,000-gallon Richburg Water 

Tank. 
 

• The CMD currently produces an average of 4.2 

million gallons of drinking water per day from its 

water treatment plant on the Catawba River. 
 

• The District owns and operates seven storage tanks 

that serve over 6,500 customers throughout the 

county. 

 

• Chester County Wastewater Recovery (CWR) is 

also a special purpose district created by 

Legislative Act No. 480 of 1964 and as amended by 

Act No. 1186 and other amendments thereto.   
 

• Without this sewer service, industrial operations in 

the Chester County area would be greatly 

hindered. 
 

• CWR is governed by a five-member commission 

known as the CWR Commission.   
 

• With a combined capacity of four million gallons, 

wastewater treatment facilities in Rocky Creek, 

Sandy River, and Lando/Manetta make up CWR.   
 

• CWR serves over 4,400 residential and commercial 

customers, 13 of which are Industrial.  
 

• There are eight certified wastewater treatment 

operators at CWR. 

 

•  

 



22 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

  
Source: Chester County/CRCOG 



23 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 8 PUBLIC SAFETY 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES (EMS) 

          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Chester County has 12 fire districts that are serviced by a 

total of 20 stations.   

• City/Special Purpose Districts 

o City of Chester (2) 

o Fort Lawn – (2)  

o Lando (3) 

o Lewis – (1) 

o Richburg – (2) 

• Chester County Fire Commission 

o Great Falls –(1)  

o Leeds – (1) 

o North Chester – (1) 

o Rossville – (2) 

o South Chester – (2) 

o West Chester – (2) 

o Cross Roads – (1) 

 

• The City of Chester, Town of Richburg and the Town of 

Great Falls have an EMS station that services the county 

as well.  

 

• Guidelines are set for County Fire Service and rural 

departments by the Chester County Rural Fire 

Commission. 

 

• The Chester County Emergency Services Training Center 

is located on McCandless Road. The facility includes a 

three-story class A burn tower and hazmat and rescue 

props. 

 

 

• Chester County has 25 full-time and part-time 

firefighters, and 279 volunteer firefighters. 

 

• The fire department emergency vehicles include 52 

pumpers, 3 ladder trucks, 15 tankers, 7 service trucks, 

12 brush trucks, and 1 aircraft crash truck. 

 

• Between FY 2013 and 2020, Fire Department  

emergency calls increased by an average of 4.5% 

annually and 39.7% overall.  EMS calls increased on 

average 10.6% annually and 120% overall. 

 

• Chester County pays for the maintenance and repairs 

of all vehicles. However, each department is 

responsible for purchasing new vehicles.   

 

Chester County Fire Engine 

Photo Credit:  KME Group    

 



24 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 
Source: Chester County/CRCOG 



25 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

SHERIFF 

 

 

  

• The Chester County Sheriff’s Department employs 60 

sworn deputies and 3 reserve officers. 

 

• There are 80 department vehicles in all, a collection 

consisting of SUVs, sedans, and off-road vehicles. 

 

• The department uses the allotted annual budget to 

pay for 100% of the necessary expenditures, such as 

routine maintenance and new patrol cars.  

 

• The number of emergency phone calls into 911 has 

ebbed and flowed between FY 2012 and 2020.  The 

data shows a noticeable drop in calls every three 

years starting in 2014 then again in 2017 and 2021.  In 

2015 and 2019, 911 experienced a noticeable 

increase in calls.  Even with the varying yearly totals, 

the linear projections only forecast a slight rise in 

yearly calls through FY 2022 and 2023. 

 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

911 Emergency Calls Received

Linear (911

Emergency Calls…

Data Source: Chester County 



26 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 9 LAND USE 

The Land Use Element of the Comprehensive Plan has two primary components that work in tandem to create a complete 

illustration of land-based factors impacting growth and development over the next decade:  the current land use analysis 

and the future land use map. The first step in developing the element involves conducting a thorough review of how land is 

being used across the county by creating a snapshot of present conditions. The Existing Land Use Map also serves as a historic 

record of how parcels have developed (or not) and also helps to identify conditions which have influenced and may 

influence future growth in the county and its municipalities. This map was created as part of the CONNECT: Our Future regional 

plan and shows the current development status of individual parcels across the county. The table below details the distribution 

by number of parcels and acreage across the five categories of existing land uses. 

Development Status Distribution 

CONNECT DEVELOPMENT STATUS PARCELS RATIO ACRES RATIO 

 Preserved Open Space  67 0.3% 20,957 5.8% 

 Agriculture  205 0.9% 20,064 5.5% 

 Undeveloped  7,001 32.2% 217,228 59.7% 

 Underdeveloped  1,836 8.4% 79,020 21.7% 

 Developed  12,642 58.1% 26,853 7.4% 

The highest number of land parcels (12,642) is shown as developed but only accounts for 7.4% of the acreage in the county. 

The undeveloped category accounts for about one-third of all parcels and approximately 60% of the land area at 217,228 

acres. Underdeveloped parcels cover over one-fifth of all acreage and represent areas that have activity on part of a larger 

tract. Preserved open space, with 67 parcels, covers 20,957 acres or 5.8% land countywide and is found primarily in the Sumter 

National Forest and two state parks. Surprisingly, agriculture ranks last with only 205 parcels or about 20,000 acres. 

The Development Status Map and Existing Land Use Map on the following pages show where these parcels are located in 

relation to one another. It is evident that the majority of Chester County has a significant representation of undeveloped 

parcels and that agricultural lands have a high concentration around Lowrys stretching to just west of I-77. The 

underdeveloped areas, which are well distributed across the county, likely represent former farms where activity has been 

suspended or abandoned. The Future Land Use Map and narrative will be covered in the Strategic Action Plan section. 



27 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

Source: Chester County/CRCOG 

  



28 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 



29 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

Source: Chester County/CRCOG 

CHAPTER 10 TRANSPORTATION 

Transportation is an important element of the Comprehensive Plan because it provides the connection between the 

movement of people and goods with the consideration of economic development and land use strategies. Because roads 

are capital facilities maintained in part by Chester County, its municipalities, and the State of South Carolina, they are linked 

to the strategies for capital improvements and the provision of adequate public facilities. The impact of new development 

on roadways is often felt on a countywide level. As development in areas of the county intensifies, one of the first things 

residents notice is an increase in traffic and commute times.  

Transportation planning is intricately tied to land use and the pattern of development that evolves as an area grows. The 

provision of transportation in the county should reflect the unique characteristics of the landscape and follow the character 

outlined in the Comprehensive Plan. A 

transportation system includes various travel options 

or modes, such as pedestrian, bicycle, bus, 

automobile, freight, rail, and air. A multi-modal 

transportation network includes and connects all of 

these different travel modes in an effective and 

efficient manner, including connections within and 

between modes, which in turn supports the 

economy of Chester County. 

ROAD NETWORK 

The road network is the primary transportation 

system in Chester County and the major road 

classifications are interstate, arterials, and collectors. 

There is also a vast network of local roads that 

provide direct access to homes and businesses. 

Many of these are two-lane roads with a variety of 

construction types—pavement, gravel, dirt, or a 

combination of these—see Road Network Map. 



30 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 

TRAFFIC COUNTS 

Traffic count data is collected annually by 

the South Carolina Department of 

Transportation (SCDOT) at 200 station 

locations in Chester County. The most recent 

figures from 2020 show the following: 

Nine stations registering over 5,000 daily trips 

saw a ten-year growth rate of at least 10% 

and four stations registered a 10% decrease 

(see map).  Of the stations with daily 

increases over 10% increase in trips: 

• One is on US Interstate 77. 

• Three are on SC Hwy 9 between 

Richburg and Chester. 

• One is on S-272 (Gadsden Street) in 

Chester. 

• Three are on US 21 in the Great Falls 

and Fort Lawn area. 

• One on S-72 Saluda Rd between York 

County and Chester. 

Ten stations registered at least 10,000 

vehicles per day.  One station on I-77 had 

more than 40,000 vehicles per day. 

The highest traffic count recorded (46,500 vehicles) was at the Chester County-York County line on I-77.   

Traffic count data is routinely used by the business community, transportation officials, and others to gauge market conditions 

and road system performance. Congestion, particularly at peak travel times, and large volumes of vehicles on roads designed 

Source: SCDOT 

Source: SCDOT/CRCOG 



31 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

for less traffic can quickly overburden the road network.  It should be noted that the number of daily trips were impacted in 

various degrees by the COVID 19 outbreak of 2020.  It is anticipated the growth in daily trips will be higher in coming years. 

ROAD IMPROVEMENTS 

Maintenance and improvement of the roadway system in Chester County is addressed by the following entities and funding 

sources: 

Chester County Transportation Committee (CTC):  The SCDOT “C” Program is a long-established partnership between SCDOT 

and Chester County to fund the improvements of state roads, county roads, city streets, and other local transportation 

projects. SCDOT, like all state transportation departments across the country, has quickly learned that the job is too big to 

accomplish without partnerships. The “C” Program is successful because local leaders and citizens alike are willing to work 

with SCDOT to meet the needs of the communities throughout South Carolina. The “C” funds are derived from 3.99 cents per 

gallon of the state gasoline tax as of July 1, 2021. In FY 2019-2020, approximately $1.34 million was allocated to Chester County 

with a mandate that 25% be directed to state-maintained roads. [https://www.scdot.org/projects/c-program.aspx] 

These funds are distributed based on this three-part formula: 

• ⅓ based on the ratio of the land area of the county to the land area of the state; 

• ⅓ based on the ratio of the county population to the state population; and 

• ⅓ based on the rural road mileage in the county to the rural road mileage in the state. 

Catawba Regional Transportation Advisory Committee (TAC):  Consisting of representatives from across the region, TAC is 

responsible for identifying and recommending priority projects for federal funding in Chester County and the remaining three 

counties in the Catawba Region. In 2020, the combination of federal and state funding known as “Guideshare” was $4.9 

million. The current list of Chester County projects is catalogued in the Catawba Regional Transportation Improvement 

Program or TIP. The most recent version is available on the web: [http://catawbacog.org/transportation/transportation-

planning/]. 

  

https://www.scdot.org/projects/c-program.aspx
http://catawbacog.org/transportation/transportation-planning/
http://catawbacog.org/transportation/transportation-planning/


32 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

RAIL SERVICE 

Much of the rail system in the Catawba Region was developed during 

the 20th century and served to spur economic development. Currently, 

the rail system primarily serves freight traffic. CSX Transportation (green 

line) has a major rail line which traverses the region on a northeast-

southwest trajectory connecting the Lancaster County panhandle to 

Chester County to southern Union County. This line connects business 

customers with eastern North Carolina and western South Carolina. 

[www.csx.com] 

Norfolk Southern (blue line) 

has two main lines in the 

region running primarily 

north-south. The first 

connects York and Chester Counties with service to Charlotte to the north and 

Columbia to the south. The second line bisects Union County and is the main 

corridor from the Port of Charleston to the Inland Port in Greer. 

[www.nscorp.com] 

A third system is the Gulf & Ohio 

Railroad known locally as the 

Lancaster and Chester Railroad 

(red line), a short line developed 

originally to provide service to the Springs Industries mills. It now also serves a 

variety of other industries. This line from Chester passes through Fort Lawn and 

Richburg in Chester County as it travels east into Lancaster County to Lancaster 

and turning south to Heath Springs and terminating in Kershaw.  

[www.gulfandohio.com]  

http://www.csx.com/
http://www.nscorp.com/
http://www.gulfandohio.com/


33 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

The Regional Rail Service Map below shows that Chester County has strategic advantage since all three railroads serve the 

county and continue to support economic development into the 21st century.  

# Cities

Interstates

US Highways

SC Highways

Hydrology

Counties

Railroad

CSX

NS

L&C

Regional Rail 

Service 

Source: SCDOT/CRCOG 



34 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

TRANSIT SERVICES 

The Chester County Connector (CCC) in Chester County offers demand response transportation.  The services are available 

to the general public with addresses originating in Chester County.  The services run Monday through Friday.  Service areas 

include Chester County, York County, and Lancaster County. CCC makes every attempt to provide transportation services 

to all residents of Chester County; however, route availability may vary. The program is funded through Federal and State 

5311 funding through Federal Transit Administration (FTA), SCDOT, and local support by Chester County Government, Chester 

Healthcare Foundation, and United Way. Medicaid transportation is provided to individuals who qualify. 

[http://chesterconnector.com/] 

 

FARES 1-5 Miles 6-10 Miles 11-30 Miles 

10 Trip Ticket Rates $8.00 $18.00 $26.00 

One Way Fare $1.00 $2.00 $3.00 

Monthly Ticket Rates $30.00 $65.00 $80.00 

 

  

Local Transportation The Chester County Connector makes every attempt to provide transportation services to 

all residents of Chester County and individuals with addresses originating in Chester County. 

Senior/Veteran Discounts Seniors 60 and over and veterans are eligible for half price fares on Tuesdays and Thursdays 

for Chester to Chester trips. Please ask about this special when reserving your ride. 

CATS 82X Park and Ride The Chester County Connector offers transportation to the Charlotte Area Transit (CATS) 

Park and Ride location in downtown Rock Hill (off Main Street) that transports to 3rd Street 

and McDowell Street in Charlotte. 

http://chesterconnector.com/


35 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

BICYCLE & PEDESTRIAN FACILITIES 

Bike Routes 

The South Carolina State Trails Program is operated by the SC Department of 

Parks, Recreation and Tourism, which maintains a website with topical and 

county specific maps. [www.sctrails.net/Trails/]  

The Central Route (orange line) passes through the center of the state, from 

Kings Mountain State Park in York County to  the Redcliffe State Historic Site 

near the Georgia border, covering 166 miles. This route passes through the 

charming historic towns of York and Chester and includes Chester State Park 

on SC 72. 

The Carolina Thread Trail program is an effort to encourage 15 counties in the 

south-central piedmont of North Carolina and the north-central portion of South 

Carolina, including Lancaster, Chester, and York counties, to create a large, 

interconnected greenway and trail system that will preserve and increase the quality of life within local communities. Over 

time, the Carolina Thread Trail will link approximately 2.3 million people, places, cities, towns, and attractions. This plan presents 

a conceptual route for trails throughout Chester County, some of which will receive the Carolina Thread Trail designation. 

Lands to be incorporated into 

trails and greenways can 

include farmland, wildlife 

habitat, open fields, and 

forests.  

The Thread Trail will help 

preserve the county’s natural 

areas and will be a place for 

the exploration of nature, 

culture, science, and history. 

Building a county-wide trail 

system is no small undertaking. 

Segments will be built one-by- one, and 

Constructed Segments of the Carolina Thread Trail  

in Chester County 

Name Place Length Miles Surface 

Landsford Canal Landsford Canal  1.5 Natural 

Rocky Creek Trail Great Falls 1.6 Natural 

Wylie Park Trail Chester City 0.5 Paved 

Great Falls Rail Trail 

(Future) 

Great Falls 3.5 – 3.75 TBD 

Source: SCPRT 

Source: Carolina Thread Trail/CRCOG 

http://www.sctrails.net/Trails/


36 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

adjustments will be made to the proposed routes as circumstances change. Trail development will follow through various 

arrangements with multiple funding partners. 

Residents from Chester County participated in a locally-driven process to create a Thread Trail Master Plan. This plan is meant 

to serve as a guiding document for greenway and trail development within the county. The plan was created by Chester 

County residents working together with their neighboring counties to identify connection points and to build trails that will 

grow together over time.  [Chester County Carolina Thread Trail Master Plan Link] 

A total of 3.6 miles on 3 separate trail links have been dedicated and constructed in Chester County.  One segment located 

in the Great Falls area will consist of approximately 3.5 to 3.75 miles of formerly CSX Rail lines.  The Town of Great Falls has 

completed the purchase of the rail bed property and the trail will be walkable in latter 2022--early 2023. 

r 

  

Source: Carolina Thread Trail - Rocky Creek Trail Source: Carolina Thread Trail – Landsford Canal Trail 

https://www.carolinathreadtrail.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Chester_County_Master_Plan.pdf


37 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 11 PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT – PLAN 4 CHESTER  

  

Public engagement is the cornerstone of a successful planning process and PLAN 4 CHESTER is the name of the coordinated 

effort between Chester County and the City of Chester to update their respective Comprehensive Plans. For Chester County, 

this process started with the development of the CONNECT: Our Future bi-state regional plan in 2012-2014 and continued with 

the Gateway Master Plan for the greater Richburg area in 2016-2017. A series of Talk Back Sessions began in 2016 to focus 

attention on a variety of topics that impact Chester and Chester County and continued into 2018. Community Drop-ins were 

held in Chester and West Chester in 2018 for location-specific feedback. An Online Survey was completed by over 300 

respondents in the summer of 2018. In addition, local governments held Needs Assessment Public Hearings to ensure their 

eligibility for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funding, and 

a list of Community Priorities was developed to identify eligible projects 

for CDBG grants. 

Collectively, these valuable sources of information were used to establish 

a targeted list of key community issues that will be addressed through the 

Strategic Action Plan section of this plan. 

  

Photo: Angela Douglas 



38 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT TIMELINE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2012-2014 2016-2017 2016-2020 2018 2018 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

CONNECT: Our Future – 2012-2014 

Gateway Master Plan Project – 2016-2017  

Chester Talk Back Sessions – 2016-2018 

o Talk Back I – March 2016 

o Talk Back II – January 2017 

o Talk Back III – October 2017 

o Talk Back IV – May 2018  

o Talk Back V – September 2018 

o Talk Back VI - August 2020 

Community Drop-ins 

o West Chester Community Drop-in – June 2018 

o City of Chester Community Drop-in – August 2018 

o Chester County (Gallo) Community Meeting – 

August 2021 

CDBG Needs Assessment Hearings 

o Chester County – March 2018 

o City of Chester – June 2018 

o Town of Great Falls – August 2018 

o Chester County – February 2020 

o Chester County – March 2021 

Community 

Drop-ins 

Needs 

Assessments 

Community 

Survey 

Photo: CONNECT: Our Future 



39 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT – COMMUNITY SURVEY 

 

The PLAN 4 CHESTER Community Survey was launched during the summer of 2018 as a tool to gather feedback on topics such 

as growth and development, recreation, and funding options for public improvement projects. The results that follow indicate 

the level of support from the citizens of Chester County and will help county leaders identify viable projects and policies during 

the implementation of this Comprehensive Plan. 

Growth and Development 

Putting the community’s best interests ahead of individual 

landowner desires was a high priority as shown on the chart to the 

right. This sentiment highlights the need to craft policies that consider 

potential negative impacts to existing members of the community, 

such as additional traffic and increased school enrollments. The 

chart below shows a strong interest in encouraging high levels of 

growth. To accomplish this while taking care to put the community’s 

best interest first, policy makers will need to pay attention 

to where and when development occurs.  

Timing of new development projects is subject to market 

conditions; however, land use changes (rezonings) for 

individual developments and capital facilities planning 

through the Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) and impact 

fees can help ensure adequate community infrastructure 

to support increases in residents, businesses, and tourists. 



40 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

Accommodating new residents and businesses into the existing 

community fabric can be challenging as reflected in the survey 

responses. Support for new construction at 44.6% is balanced with 

32% for infill/reuse/preservation as a viable alternative. Similarly, 

57.1% of survey responses prefer large lots away from towns and at a 

lower density as the best location for new residential development. 

At the same time 36.9% like small lots in towns with high connectivity 

to utilities and public services. Redevelopment typically occurs in 

established neighborhoods and areas with existing infrastructure 

(roads, utilities, and parks), while new development tends to happen 

in undeveloped areas such as “green fields” often without 

established existing infrastructure.  Both patterns of development are 

positive signs of a healthy and growing economy, and both can be 

successful in the various communities of Chester County. 

  

Source: Chester County Gateway Master Plan and Merrifield Patrick Vermillion MVP 

Properties 



41 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT – CHESTER TALK BACK SESSIONS 

 

Over the course of three years (2016-2020) Chester Talk Back Sessions gave members of the Chester community a voice in 

local government matters. With strong support from elected officials and staff of Chester County and the City of Chester, five 

open-mic sessions were held on a variety of topics ranging from community appearance to housing to small business 

opportunities. 

• Talk Back I – March 2016 

• Talk Back II – January 2017 

• Talk Back III – October 2017 

• Talk Back IV – May 2018  

• Talk Back V – September 2018 

• Talk Vack VI – August 2020 

 
  

Photo: Brian Garner 



42 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT – COMMUNITY DROP-INS 

 

WEST CHESTER COMMUNITY DROP-IN – JUNE 2018 

Held at the West Chester Community Center, residents from West Chester helped identify community assets (below). 

Concerns were also voiced about challenges they face: road maintenance needs, dilapidated houses and businesses, 

updates for recreation facilities, and response times for emergency services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF CHESTER DROP-IN – AUGUST 2018 

Held at the Chester County War Memorial Building, residents from the greater Chester community attended and discussed a 

variety of topics including parks and recreation, healthy/active lifestyles, workforce housing, historic downtown Chester, 

safety, and maintenance of rental properties. Community health was a central theme that encompasses several areas of 

interest and recent efforts by Eat Smart Move More Chester County, Carolina Thread Trail, and Chester Farmers and Artisan 

Market. Also of note is Chester’s historic downtown which is “large and intact” thereby providing opportunities for place-

making and promoting historical tourism. 

 



43 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 12 STRATEGIC ACTION PLAN 

The final section of the Chester County Comprehensive Plan 2019-2029 is the Strategic 

Action Plan. Its purpose is to provide meaningful and focused action steps that can be 

taken to improve, protect, and enhance the livability of Chester County. Several planning 

initiatives and planning documents have been completed in recent years regarding 

Chester County’s future, including: 

• CONNECT: Our Future Bi-state Regional Plan 

• Prosperity for Greater Charlotte 

• CDBG Needs Assessments 

• Catawba Regional Housing Assessment 

• Catawba Regional Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy 

• Gateway Master Plan 

• Chester County Economic Development Strategic Plan 

• Southern Regional Education Board Needs Assessment Report  

  



44 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

CHAPTER 13 THEMES 

The Comprehensive Plan is a compilation of information, ideas, and policies from multiple agencies with a vested interest in 

the future of Chester County. Identifying and organizing the priorities from the public, private, and non-profits sectors in a 

coherent and seamless manner is an ongoing process. The concept of using available resources and momentum already 

created by community partners is not unique to this project, but it is often overlooked due to the immediacy of daily activities. 

The Great Recession (December 2007 to June 2009) taught us several lessons; chief among these is that continued reliance 

on state and federal coffers to fund local projects is not sound fiscal policy. Leveraging resources—knowledge, facilities, 

financing—from all sectors will make Chester County more attractive for growth and put it in a position to withstand future 

economic storms. 

Three key themes—Housing, Economic Development, and Public Facilities and 

Services—arose from these planning efforts and will be further developed and refined 

in this Strategic Action Plan to help connect policies and projects with partners and 

resources so that tangible improvements can be made and tracked over time. This 

method of accountability will help demonstrate that progress is being made and that 

success is a by-product of collaboration, teamwork, and intentional investment in 

shared goals and objectives. 

The format of the following sections is intended to aid and support implementation of 

this plan by clearly listing details that include the following: 

Action Step A policy, project, or service. 

Partner Public or private sector entity.  

 Funding Source Financial resources via grants, loans, or in-kind services. 

 Timeframe Immediate (1 year), Short-term (2-5 years), or Ongoing (1-10 years) 

 Plan Element To ensure compliance with SC law. 

 

 

Key Themes

Housing

Public 
Facilities & 

Services 

Economic 
Development



45 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

HOUSING 

Housing is a fundamental need that all people in society have, and the residents of Chester County are no different. The 

Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice in Chester County prepared by Catawba Regional revealed “that low 

incomes and high unemployment along with a lack of affordable housing are the primary impediments to fair housing in the 

county.” Recent economic development activities have helped replace “jobs lost in the textile industry, but many more new 

jobs are needed in order to lower unemployment, raise wages, and slow the loss of population in the county.”1 The Catawba 

Regional Housing Assessment is an evaluation of the economic conditions and general housing affordability within each 

county of the region as well as an assessment of the burden of housing costs upon its residents. This study serves as a foundation 

and catalyst for addressing workforce housing needs in Chester County and the region. The following action steps will help 

improve housing in Chester County. 

ACTION STEP PARTNER 
FUNDING 

SOURCE 
TIMEFRAME 

PLAN 

ELEMENT 

1. Enforce the International Property 

Maintenance Code to address sub-

standard housing conditions and continue 

to support the elimination of slum and 

blight. 

Local Councils 

Code enforcement staff 

Private property owners 

 

N/A Immediate 

Year 1 

Housing 

Population 

2. Increase and expand the availability and 

accessibility of affordable homeowner 

and rental housing opportunities. 

Private sector builders 

Non-profit builders (I-58) 

Chester Housing Authority 

(City of Chester Only) 

Planning Commissions 

Private 

sector 

HUD 

CDBG 

 

Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Housing 

Economic 

Land Use 

Population 

 
1 Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice in Chester County. 



46 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

ACTION STEP PARTNER 
FUNDING 

SOURCE 
TIMEFRAME 

PLAN 

ELEMENT 

Local Councils 

 

3. Encourage higher density housing 

development, where appropriate, in or 

adjacent to areas with adequate 

infrastructure, particularly municipalities 

and designated small area planning area, 

like the Gateway District or the future SC 

9/Fort Lawn plan. 

Planning Commissions 

Local Councils 

Private sector builders 

Non-profit builders 

 

N/A Short-term 

Years 2-5 

Housing 

Land Use 

Transportation 

Community 

Facilities 

4. Leverage the success of the 

Neighborhood Initiative Program to spur 

the redevelopment of vacant lots for 

affordable workforce housing.2 

Catawba Regional COG 

Private sector builders 

Non-profit builders 

 

Private 

sector 

HUD 

CDBG 

Short-term 

Years 2-5 

Housing 

Economic 

 

5. Promote the development of more 

housing choices—type, location, and 

price—to meet existing and future housing 

market demands that appeal to young 

professional employees, empty-nesters, 

and seniors—by updating land 

development codes and ordinances. 

Private sector builders 

Non-profit builders 

Local land owners 

Planning Commissions 

Local Councils 

Chester 

County 

Short-term 

Years 2-5 

Housing 

Land Use 

Population 

 
2 Workforce housing ($150-250,000) for skilled workers, public sector (teachers, first responders), and service sector workers. 



47 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Chester County is located in the Catawba Region of South 

Carolina which also includes the counties of Lancaster, Union, 

and York. Economic potential in this region is promising, due 

largely to the fact that location, existing development, labor 

force, educational institutions, and natural and cultural 

resources provide a sound foundation for economic growth. In 

order to take advantage of this potential and alleviate 

persistent problems with low-income levels and unstable 

employment patterns, a mutual effort is needed from both 

public and private sectors. The Catawba Region’s 

Comprehensive Economic Development Strategy or CEDS is a 

coordinated economic district planning program used by local 

governments. 

This annual report includes a wide range of demographic and 

socio-economic data paired with detailed analysis of the 

impact of the data presented; additionally, the geographic 

scope of analysis includes counties outside the Catawba 

Region. With an understanding that the economy of the 

Catawba Region’s four counties is influenced by surrounding 

counties’ economies, two additional regions and data sets are 

included in the scope of analysis as shown in the map above. The Catawba Region Commuter Shed includes the South 

Carolina counties of Chester, Lancaster, and York and the North Carolina counties of Gaston, Mecklenburg, and Union. By 

working together with neighboring jurisdictions, Chester County can better leverage resources and deliver a higher level of 

sustained success for workers and employers now and in the future. 

The following action steps will help strengthen and improve existing economic development activities and leverage resources 

to diversify the economy of Chester County. 

Source: Esri and CRCOG 



48 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

ACTION STEP PARTNER 
FUNDING 

SOURCE 
TIMEFRAME 

PLAN 

ELEMENT 

1. Protect existing industrial developments while 

promoting new industries and economic 

development opportunities.  

I-77 Alliance 

Chester Development 

Association. 

Local Councils 

SC Department of 

Commerce 

EDA 

RIA 

Immediate 

Year 1 

Economic 

Population 

2. Continue to create an environment which 

leads to increased industrial investment for the 

Chester County economy. 

I-77 Alliance 

Chester Development 

Association. 

Local Councils 

SC Department of 

Commerce 

 Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Economic 

Land Use 

Community 

Facilities 

3. Continue to support brownfields revitalization 

through assessment, re-use, demolition, and 

clearance of former textile mill sites and 

dilapidated buildings. 

  

Local Councils 

Catawba Regional COG 

EPA 

CDBG 

Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Economic 

Land Use 

Cultural 

Housing 

4. Develop career pathways with local 

educational partners and businesses within key 

Industry Target areas: chemicals, food and 

beverage products, advanced materials, and 

transportation equipment. 

Chester County Schools 

York Technical College 

WIOA 

 

Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Economic 

Population 



49 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

ACTION STEP PARTNER 
FUNDING 

SOURCE 
TIMEFRAME 

PLAN 

ELEMENT 

Workforce Development 

Board 

Chester Development 

Association 

5. Continue to leverage resources to strengthen 

workforce development activities including 

occupational skills training in the Catawba 

target sectors: healthcare, 

maintenance/manufacturing, 

transportation/logistics, building/construction, 

and office/computer technology. 

 

Workforce Development 

Board 

Chester County Schools 

York Technical College 

Chester Development 

Association 

WIOA 

 

Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Economic 

Population 

Community 

Facilities 

6. Support local farms and agri-tourism efforts to 

promote rural economies and locally 

produced foods. 

 

Chester Food Hub 

Eat Smart Move More 

Chester 

Catawba Farm & Food 

Coalition 

Olde English District 

USDA 

SCDA 

SCDHEC 

Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Economic 

Natural 

Resources 

7. Continue to support existing recreation assets 

including Chester State Park, Landsford Canal 

State Park, Rocky Creek Trail (Part of the 

Carolina Thread Trail),and Sumter National 

Forest. 

SC Parks, Recreation and 

Tourism 

Olde English District 

 

SCPRT Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Community 

Facilities  

Population 

 



50 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 

 

  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ACRONYMS 

EDA – Economic Development Administration 

EPA – Environmental Protection Agency 

WIOA – Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

USDA – US Department of Agriculture 

RIA – Rural Infrastructure Act 

SCDA – SC Department of Agriculture 

SCDHEC – SC Department of Health and 

Environmental Control 



51 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES 

Public facilities and services are the backbone of a successful community. Roads, schools, libraries, and other infrastructure 

are necessary and essential for daily activities in Chester County. These community facilities help define the areas that they 

serve, and care should be taken to plan, build, and maintain them so that residents, businesses, and visitors can enjoy them 

for generations. A prudent approach to managing the public’s investment in facilities is to prepare a Capital Improvements 

Program or CIP to determine capital facilities needs within a 10-year timeframe. This tool helps take stock of existing facilities 

and financial resources as well as plans for expansion of services due to growth in employment and population. 

Public services go hand-in-hand with facilities. Public safety, education, economic development, etc. all depend on public 

facilities for delivery. While the CIP and impact fees will help fund facilities, services rely on annual tax revenues or fees and 

are accounted for in the operating budgets of their respective public bodies. Continuing to leverage partnerships between 

the public, private, and non-profit sectors and faith community is vital. 

The county is currently in the process of completing their CIP.  Once complete, the county will evaluate the feasibility of 

creating an impact fee to address anticipated growth in the Gateway/I-77 Exit 65 area. 

ACTION STEP PARTNER 
FUNDING 

SOURCE 
TIMEFRAME PLAN ELEMENT 

1. Develop a Capital Improvements 

Program to help plan for capital 

facilities and major equipment 

investments for the next decade. 

Chester County Council 

Consultant 

Chester 

County 

Immediate 

Year 1 

Priority 

Investment 

2. Prepare an Impact Fee Study as a 

funding tool for eligible capital projects. 

Chester County Council 

Consultant 

Chester 

County 

Immediate 

Year 1 

Priority 

Investment 

3. Continue to improve the transportation 

network in Chester County to enhance 

economic development, tourism, and 

healthy lifestyles. 

SCDOT 

Catawba Regional COG 

Chester County CTC 

FHWA 

SCDOT 

Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Transportation 

Economic 

Population 



52 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

ACTION STEP PARTNER 
FUNDING 

SOURCE 
TIMEFRAME PLAN ELEMENT 

4. Support school facilities improvements 

to address age, capacity, and location 

issues. 

Chester County Schools Chester 

County 

School 

District 

Short-term 

Years 2-5 

Community 

Facilities 

Cultural 

Resources 

Land Use 

5. Promote the maintenance and 

development of recreation facilities 

such as the Carolina Thread Trail, 

Whitewater Kayaking, and Dearborn 

State Park in Great Falls, that support 

healthy lifestyles and combat chronic 

illnesses affecting Chester County 

Residents. 

Eat Smart Move More Chester 

Local Councils 

Private and non-profit sectors 

SC Parks, Recreation and 

Tourism 

SCPRT 

Foundations 

Short-term 

Years 2-5 

Community 

Facilities 

Population 

Transportation 

6. Continue to support existing recreation 

assets including Chester State Park, 

Landsford Canal State Park, Rocky 

Creek Trail (Part of the Carolina Thread 

Trail),and Sumter National Forest. 

SC Parks, Recreation and 

Tourism 

Olde English District 

 

SCPRT Ongoing 

Years 1-10 

Community 

Facilities  

Population 

 



53 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

  

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICES ACRONYMS 

CTC – County Transportation Committee 

FHWA – Federal Highway Administration 

SCPRT – SC Department of Parks, Recreation 

and Tourism 

SCDOT – SC Department of Transportation 



54 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 

The Future Land Use Plan takes into consideration 

community assets and public infrastructure (existing 

and proposed) that was identified in preceding 

sections of the Comprehensive Plan to provide a 

context for policy-makers to use when updating 

ordinances and policies that affect future public and 

private development activities. It also locates in 

general terms where future growth may occur in the 

county and specifically where it may occur in 

relation to the municipalities. The map on this page is 

a visual tool that helps answer the question of where 

growth should occur based on three choices: 

• Areas to focus future development 

• Areas to preserve 

• Areas to stay the same 

To increase the likelihood that a new zoning ordinance and map will better reflect key principles, intended development 

patterns, and standards discussed in the Comprehensive Plan, seven general land use classifications have been used. This 

approach will provide flexibility for appropriately mixing land uses and re-shaping the current development pattern of the 

county to protect each local community’s natural and cultural assets while balancing the demands for growth. Similarly, 

when the Gateway Area Master Plan was prepared, nine land use categories were identified as the framework for future 

development. The Future Land Use Map on the following page incorporates the Gateway District boundary and land uses. 

Also, areas within the municipalities are shaded to reflect their independent decision-making authority.  The Gateway Master 

Plan should be used as a supplement to the Comprehensive Plan that can be amended and updated as needed. 

Where Should We Grow? 

Source: Chester County, CRCOG, and SCDOT 



55 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

  



56 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

COMMUNITY TYPES 

The Land Use Map uses a simple, but important concept introduced during the CONNECT regional planning process—

designating areas based on “community types.” Community types are physical descriptions of different kinds of built or natural 

environments such as “rural living,” “walkable neighborhood,” or “suburban commercial center” to name just a few. The use 

of community types marks a significant shift in planning practice in the last two decades, away from conventional and 

functional designations that merely specified the use of land and towards a renewed interest in the relationships between 

land uses and urban design. The objective of this more contextual way of classifying land uses is to produce more 

economically and environmentally attractive places to live, work, and play.  

Detailed descriptions and graphics for 

each of the future land use 

classifications are available in the 

Appendix (example shown here). This 

information will be used as the 

foundation for re-writing development 

codes and updating the zoning map. 

Additional graphics for the future land 

use categories are provided on the 

following pages as illustrative examples 

that are readily understandable and 

relatable to existing communities in 

Chester County. 

  



57 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

Rural Living  

  

Suburban Neighborhood  

  

Source: Connect our Future 



58 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

Suburban Center  

  

 

Walkable Center  

  

Source: Connect our Future 



59 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 

Town Center  

  

 

Industrial Center 
 

  

Source: Connect our Future 



60 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

PRIORITY INVESTMENT PLAN 

In May 2007, the South Carolina Priority Investment Act (PIA) was signed into law. The PIA consists of amendments to the 1994 

Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act that include adding a new Priority Investment Element to the list of 

required elements for local comprehensive plans. The Priority Investment Element serves to connect the major capital 

improvement needs identified in the other elements of the comprehensive plan. State Law notes that: 

A priority investment element [is required] that analyzes the likely federal, state, and local funds available 

for public infrastructure and facilities during the next ten years, and recommends the projects for 

expenditure of those funds during the next ten years for needed public infrastructure and facilities such as 

water, sewer, roads, and schools. The recommendation of those projects for public expenditure must be 

done through coordination with adjacent and relevant jurisdictions and agencies. For the purposes of this 

item, 'adjacent and relevant jurisdictions and agencies' means those counties, municipalities, public 

service districts, school districts, public and private utilities, transportation agencies, and other public 

entities that are affected by or have planning authority over the public project. For the purposes of this 

item, 'coordination' means written notification by the local planning commission or its staff to adjacent and 

relevant jurisdictions and agencies of the proposed projects and the opportunity for adjacent and relevant 

jurisdictions and agencies to provide comment to the planning commission or its staff concerning the 

proposed projects. [www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t06c029.htm]  

The legal definition of ‘public infrastructure and facilities’ is somewhat flexible; therefore, this element will include a ten-year 

inventory of public facilities and infrastructure improvements that have an estimated cost of at least $100,000 and are 

identified in one or more of the following: 

1. Capital Sales Tax Projects 

2. Chester County Capital Improvements Program 

3. Strategic or Capital Plans for any unit of local government in Chester County 

4. Strategic or Capital Plans for any utility provider in Chester County 

5. Strategic or Capital Plans for any state or federal agency in Chester County 

The County is currently in the process of developing a Capital Improvement Plan, once complete, the Priority Investment 

Element can be completed. 

http://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t06c029.htm


61 | P a g e  2 0 2 0 - 2 0 3 0  C h e s t e r  C o u n t y  C o m p r e h e n s i v e  P l a n  

 



TELEPHONE (803) 581-2829          FAX (855) 933-2533 

 

Chester County, South Carolina 

Office of Purchasing 
1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass 
Chester, SC 29706 

 

 
Date:  October 18, 2021 
To:  County Council 
From:  Susan M. Cok 
Subject:  Approval of Bid – Preventative Maintenance – Fire Apparatus   

 
Chester County Council Members, 

On September 28, 2021, the Purchasing Office and Fire Service issued RFP 2122-01. The bids were 
opened on October 12, 2021. There was 1 bid received and our recommendation is to award the bid to 
Lesslie Welding & Fabricating out of Rock Hill, SC in the amount of $29,080.90. This will be a 2-year 
contract with the option to renew for two (2) additional one (1) year contracts. 
 
 

Respectfully, 

Susan M. Cok 

Susan M. Cok,  
Director of Contracts and Procurement 

 

 

 

 
 

      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



TELEPHONE (803) 581-2829          FAX (855) 933-2533 

 

 

 

 Bid Tabulation  
RFP 2122-01 Preventative Maintenance – Fire Apparatus 

October 12, 2021 @ 2:00 pm 
 

Bidder 
Agreement 

Form  

Non-
Collusion 
Affidavit  

Certificate 
of 

Familiarity  
Bid 

Form 

Bid Total                 

Lesslie Welding & Fabricating – Rock Hill, SC √ √ √ √ $29,080.90 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 
 
 
       
      

I certify that the above bid tabulation is an accurate representation of the information set forth on the bid 
proposals received. 

      
Susan M. Cok 10/12/2021      
Purchasing Official Date     

      
Barkley Ramsey 10/12/2021      
Witness Date     

 



Chester County Fire Service 
598 Saluda Road 
Chester SC 29706 

 
 

 Date ________________             Technician:_______________________ 

Apparatus #____________ Mileage ____________ Hours _______________ 

Make: ____________ Model: ___________ VIN: _______________________ 

Pump Make ____________ Pump Serial # _______ Pump Model # ________  

Pump Hours: _______ Aerial Hours: _______ 

Code    X – OK   NR – Needs Repair 
 
_____ Change engine oil and filter(s) 

_____ Change fuel filter(s) 

_____ Change coolant filter(s) & refill coolant  

_____ Check belts and hoses 

_____ Check all remaining fluid levels & fill as needed (Driveline, Power Steering, Transmission) 

_____ Check for fluid/oil leaks 

_____ Check all gearbox/differential fluid levels  

_____ Check driveshaft/universal joint condition 

_____ Check exhaust system 

_____ Check brake system and adjust brakes 

_____ Check chassis air system (recovery and/or leaks) 

_____ Lubricate chassis 

_____ Check electrical system (battery terminals/voltage) 

_____ Check windshield wiper operation/condition 

_____ Check windshield washer operation 

____ Drain fluid from pump transmission 

_____ Clean oil filter if equipped 

_____ Refill pump transmission with proper fluid 

_____ Fill Auto-Lube if equipped 

_____ Adjust pump packing per manufactures specifications  

 
 



 

_____ Check pump shift operation 

_____ Check and lube all linkages on pump/body/valves  

_____ Check pump master drain and all discharge drains operation 

_____ Check pump cooler and lines 

_____ Check primer tank and lines 

_____ Check RPM counter and cable if equipped 

_____ Check operation of primer pump 

_____ Check all DOT/compartment/underbody lights on the complete unit 

_____ Check operation of all warning and scene lights (12 volt and 120 volt) 

_____ Check and lubricate all door hinges and latches on body and chassis 

_____ Change filters and check oil levels and for leaks on hydraulic generator if equipped 

_____ Change oil and filters on small engine equipment if equipped  

_____ Check steering components 

_____ Check/adjust tires pressures 

_____ Check auxiliary engine cooler (lines and/or leaks) 

 
Aerial Apparatus: 
 
_____ Change all Hyd. Filters 

_____ Check for abnormal wear 

_____ Grease aerial device 

_____ Check cable and/or cylinder condition 

_____ Check fluid level 

_____ Grease pivot points 

_____ Grease waterway (if equipped) 

_____ Check out riggers 

_____ Lubricate out riggers 

_____ Check overall aerial operation 

                                                  
Discrepancies:_____________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________ 
 
*Any item that needs to be repaired or replaced must have prior approval by the Chester County Fire 
Coordinator.  

 
 















































TELEPHONE (803) 581-2829          FAX (855) 933-2533 

 

Chester County, South Carolina 

Office of Purchasing 
1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass 
Chester, SC 29706 

 

 
Date:  November 1, 2021 
To:  County Council 
From:  Susan M. Cok 
Subject:  Approval of Bid – AC Units and Installation   

 
Chester County Council Members, 

On September 28, 2021, the Purchasing Office and Facilities Maintenance Dept. issued RFP 2122-02. 
The bids were opened on October 19, 2021. There were 3 bids received and our recommendation is to 
award the bid to the lowest bidder Hubbard Heating & Cooling out of Lancaster, SC in the amount of 
$33,750.00.  
 
 

Respectfully, 

Susan M. Cok 

Susan M. Cok,  
Director of Contracts and Procurement 

 

 

 

 
 

      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



TELEPHONE (803) 581-2829          FAX (855) 933-2533 

 

 

 

 Bid Tabulation  
RFP 2122-02 AC Units and Installation 

October 19, 2021 @ 2:00 pm 
 

Bidder 
Agreement 

Form  

Non-
Collusion 
Affidavit  

Certificate 
of 

Familiarity  
Bid 

Form 

Bid Total                 

Hubbard Heating & Cooling, Lancaster, SC √ √ √ √ $33,750.00 

Cudd Heating & Air, Inc., Chester, SC √ √ √ √ $38,361.00 

Davis Climate Control, Irmo, SC √ √ √ √ $51,323.00 

      

      

      

      

      

      

 
 
 
       
      

I certify that the above bid tabulation is an accurate representation of the information set forth on the bid 
proposals received. 

      
Susan M. Cok 10/19/2021      
Purchasing Official Date     

      
Joe Roberts 10/19/2021      
Witness Date     

 



TELEPHONE (803) 581-2829          FAX (855) 933-2533 

 

Chester County, South Carolina 

Office of Purchasing 
1476 J.A. Cochran Bypass 
Chester, SC 29706 

 

 
Date:  November 1, 2021 
To:  County Council 
From:  Susan M. Cok 
Subject:  Approval of Bid – Disaster Preparedness Shelter System   

 
Chester County Council Members, 

On October 13, 2021, the Purchasing Office and EMS issued RFP 2122-03 The bids were opened on 
October 27, 2021. There were 2 bids received and our recommendation is to award the bid to the lowest 
bidder Deployed Logix out of Eugene, OR in the amount of $27,777.06.  
 
 

Respectfully, 

Susan M. Cok 

Susan M. Cok,  
Director of Contracts and Procurement 

 

 

 

 
 

      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



TELEPHONE (803) 581-2829          FAX (855) 933-2533 

 

 

 

 Bid Tabulation  
RFP 2122-02 Disaster Preparedness Shelter System 

October 27, 2021 @ 2:00 pm 
 

Bidder 
Agreement 

Form  

Non-
Collusion 
Affidavit  

Certificate 
of 

Familiarity  
Bid 

Form 

Bid Total                 

Deployed Logix, Eugene, OR √ √ √ √ $27,777.06 

Technology International, Lake Mary, FL √ √ √ √ $45,907.02 

      

      

      

      

      

      

      

 
 
 
       
      

I certify that the above bid tabulation is an accurate representation of the information set forth on the bid 
proposals received. 

      
Susan M. Cok 10/27/2021      
Purchasing Official Date     

      
Britt Lineberger 10/27/2021      
Witness Date     

 


	1. 11-1-2021 Special Called meeting
	3. 10-18-2021 Minutes
	4. 2021-6 IBHS FINAL - Second Amendment Ordinance - Chester County (IBHS)-8397371-v5
	5. Chester County COMP PLAN 2020-2030 update Final Clean
	6. Bid Approval- RFP 2122-01 Preventative Maintenance - Fire Apparatus
	7. CCMA21-28 Mattie Howze_Redacted
	8. CCMA21-29 Leonard Stevens Bishop_Redacted
	9. CCMA21-30 Nate McDaniel_Redacted
	10. forestry request for Richburg FIre  2021
	11. Richburg Fire District loan
	12. Letter for Council - RFP 2122-02 AC Units and Installation
	13. Letter for Council - RFP 2122-03 Disaster Preparedness Shelter System



